STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURTS OF APPEAL

---

APPEAL FROM BAMBERG COUNTY  
COURT OF GENERAL SESSION

Honorable Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No: 2007-GS-05-00168,169  
Appellate Case No: 2017-002619

---

Johnnie Lee Jones, SCDC #340271,

Appellant,

v.

The State of South Carolina,

Respondant,

---

[ INITIAL ] BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

**RECEIVED**  
SEP 26 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

Johnnie Lee Jones,  
Johnnie Lee Jones, SCDC #340271.  
Acting Pro-Se Attorney:  
Allendale Correction Institution  
Post-office Box 1151 F-3-B-23  
Fairfax, South Carolina 29827

## TABLE OF CONTENT

Table of Content.	(ii)

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE OF APPEAL

(1). Did circuit courts error in denying of Petition/Motion for Newly discovered evidence on claims of Extrinsic fraud, Where apposing party Solicitor and Clerk of court fail to produce supportive evidence from the Clerks records that rebutted the claim of Fraudulent actions by the Solicitor and Grand jury foreperson of signing and processing of such documents (Indictment) of this action out-side the convening of courts Grand Jury?

## STATEMENT OF CASE

Appellant is currently incarcerated in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Bamberg Counties Clerk of court. The appellant was indicted during the May/June of 2007, term of Bamberg County Grand Jury for Assault and Battery with intent to kill, (2007-GD-05-0168) and Attempted Kidnapping, (2007-GS-05-0169), During trial proceedings he was represented by Dan Luginbill, Esquire, and was found guilty by juror's of Attempted kidnapping and Assault and Battery of a high and aggravating nature. On April 19, 2010, the Honorable Judge Doyet A. Early, III. past judgement to a period of eighteen years confinement on Attempted Kidnapping and ten years on the assault and Battery of a high and aggravating nature.

Defendant filed a Notice of Appeal and the Appeal was perfected, On January 25, 2012, the South Carolina Courts of Appeals affirmed the conviction and sentencing and dismissed the appeal, (see): State v. Jones )Op. No: 2012-up-0341), Thereafter on April 30, 2012 Defendant file the Pro-Se Petition for Post-Conviction Relief and was presented before the Honorable Judge R. Ferrell Cothran, Who dismissed the action by orders dated August 19, 2013...

Defendant subsequently file a Motion captioned, "Motion for Newly Discovered Evidence" and "Motion to Expand the Record" and subsequentlt to that file the "Petition for Writ of Mandamus", Which was presented and denied by the Honorable Judge Doyet A. Early, III. On August 24, 2017, The defendant filed a Notice of Appeal and this is as follows:

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant argues circuit courts violated his Fifth and Fourteenth - Constitutional Amendments of the United States and Article I, §3 and 11, of South Carolina Constitution Amendments by the errored judgement of denying his Motion for Newly Discovered Evidence, Where during Courts proceedings apposing parties (Solicitor and/or Clerk of Courts) Failed to provide or present rebuttal evidence from Courts records that would substantially support petitioner's claim of extrinsic Fraud and courts lack of jurisdiction to process a fraudulent indictment under a unlawful and illegally impanelment and/or a signed order to do such actions by the Supreme courts Chief Justice to be with-out merit. Here, Appellant should be granted the relief requested in the original application as a matter of law. This arguement is as follows:

### ARGUMENT:

Appellant humbly contends, Courts errored in the denial of his Motion for Newly Discovered Evidence dated August 24, 2018, Therby, Violating the Appellants Fifth and Fourteenth Constitutional Amendments of Due process and equal protection of Law. Appellant appeals the Courts ruling on this Motion and only raises one collateral claim in support of all issue's of this legal matter..

Appellant states courts made error judgement in denying his Motion of Newly Discovered Evidence Claiming "Extrinsic Fraud" Where the Solicitor of the second judicial circuit did commit a "Procedural error" and "Contempt of the proceedings" (Fraud) pursuant to SCRCP: rule: 60-(b)-(3), By unlawfully and illegally processing the indictment of this case out-side the proper convening of a Grand Jury. Then willfully printing and publishing the false and misleading information of the document to the Clerk of courts office for a trial proceeding to deep secret its violation and/or illegal process of statutory Law. (see): Designation of Matter; Exhibit: #A. Pg. (4). (i Due Peocess)., Exhibit: #C, (Indictments).

Appellant further claims the trial court was with-out jurisdiction of the trial proceedings, Where the indictment was Fraudulently signed and processed out-side the convening of a Grand Jury, Making such Documents Null and Void. This issue was expressed in the original Motion and fully discussed in the court hearing. (see): Exhibit: #B. Pg. (2-3). Where the

courts agreed with appellants argument that S.C. code ann: §14-5-630-(A). provides for the scheduling of terms of General Session and Common Pleas courts in the second Judicial circuit, Although courts further claim such to be in direct contravening to the subsequent enactment of the South - Carolina Constitution Article V, section §4. "Quoting" The Chief Justice shall set the terms of any court and shall have the power to assign any judge to sit in any court within the unified Judicial System. (see): The S.C. Const. Amend. Art. V, section: §4., S.C. code ann: §14-5-630-(A)., Exhibit: #B. Pg. (2-3)..

Here, appellant respectfully agree's to the South Carolina Constitution:ional Law that establish the Unified Judicial System and supports rules set up by Legislature panel of opporations. Art. V, section: §4. Quotes, The unified Judicial System provides: Each county shall be entitled to four weeks of court each year and such terms thereafter shall be provided for by the General assembly. Provided further: That the Chief Justice - shall set a term of at least one week in any court of original jurisdiction of the county within sixty day's after receipt by him of a resolution of the county bar requesting it; "More specific a special term of court" Here, Appellant states the indictment, as set forth, will establish courts without jurisdiction of court proceedings, Where the [Foreperson of Grand Jury] signed the [True Bill] dated May 31,2007, Thereby, committing [Constructive Fraud] upon the court by signing such Documents before a full panel was assemble by the General Session on June 4,2007. and violating the strict mandated provisions set up by the Legislatures opporation manual for the unified judicial system. Furthermore, Courts actions violated appellants constitutional rights to due process and/or equal protection of Law. (see): Exhibit: #C. Fifth and Fourteenth Constitutional Amendments of the United States and Atticle I, §3 and 11, of the South Carolina Constitutional Amendments., (see): Gathers V. United States 413 F.2d 1061, 134 US 154 (App. DC 1969)..

The terms of General Session court are constitutionally set by the Chief justice of the Supreme Court and notice of such terms are thereafter published by the South Carolina courts of Administrations. (see); State Ex.rel Riley V. Martin 274 SC 106, 262 SE2d 404 (1980). Here, all other modes taken by the Solicitor's office or courts out-side of these provisions would be Null and Void and constitutes a fraudulent act. The standards of SCRCF: rule: 60-(b)-(3), [Fraud, misrepresentation or other misconduct by an adverse party], is supported through Supreme courts in

rulings of law that there is no limitation when a party seeks to set a judgement aside due to fraud or other misconduct of an adverse party who commits a unlawful act upon the courts. (see): Aoudi V Mobil Oil Corp. , 862 F2d 890 (1st cir 1988)., Infurtherance, For the edit of the courts "Fraud" is a hidden agenda and a unlawful act that can only be discovered through relentless investigations or intrusive study of materials and documents implicated under a format of secrecy, to which such application are cosistently construed as truthful and authentic in nature by all of averring of courts. (see): State V. Grim 341 SC 63, 533 SE2d 329 (2000).., State V. Beachum 288 SC 325, 342 SE2d 597 (1986)..

Appellant contends in this concept the unlawful signing of the Foreperson of the True Bill is construed as truthfully authentic and done under a clarity of secrecy that most courts controvertly find as unapproachable. S.C. Const. Amend. Art. I, section: §11, and the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution, "Quotes," No person shall be held to answer for a capital or otherwise infamous crime unless on a presentment or indictment of a Grand jury. FRCP: rule: 6-(F), provides: Indictments may be Found only upon the concurring of 12 or more Juror's. The rule: 6-(C), It empasizes the requirement that 12 juror's "Shall Find", each indictment by its provisions and foreperson shall keep the records of the number of juror's concurring in the finding of every indictment or a signed log of each indictment processed through each term for that year. This is consistent with S.C. code ann: §14-7-1700, That establishes rules that each indictment be "Found" by at least 12 Juror's and such findings be placed on record with the Clerk of courts office pursuant to S.C. code ann: §14-7-540. (see): State V. Funderburk 259 SC 256, 191 SE2d 520 (1972) State V, Bultron 318 Sc 328, 457 SE2d 616 (ct. App. 1996)..

The case at hand, during the proceeding hearing the adverse parties Solicitor, Clerk of courts fail to offer rebuttal evidence from courts records pursuant to the codes of laws presented above. Clearly, Procedures set up by the legislature mandates records of such actions be kept in records with the Clerk of courts, Here, Court should provided signed documents such as rosters by the Grand Jury and Foreperson of the dates and times of all such actions and/or signed documents or orders by Chief Justice allowing a court proceeding of this nature along with specific reasoning for a signature of authenticity out-side a Grand Jury term. The Failure to provide such reasoning is supportive Prima Facie evidence of Extrinsic Fraud by the adverse parties upon the court. The Lack of any

court records to stabilize a legal court proceeding is clear evidence in that signifies a hidden agenda of a secret fraudulent act in support of appellants claim of fraud by courts. Thereby, Circuit Courts made errored judgement in denying of the Motion where evidence fail to exist in support of adverse parties response to appellants claim of fraudulent action by the Solicitor office and Grand Jury Foreperson of unlawfully and illegally processing the indictment out-side the provisions of Law... (see): Exhibit: #D. [Transcript of proceedings], State V Butron, Supra., Zugar V. State 194 Sc 285, 21 SE2d 647 (1942)., Anderson V. State 338 SE 629 , 527 SE2d 398 (2000).. and many more...

### IN CONCLUSION

Appellant contends, For all reasons stated herein above, The Honorable Circuit Judge errored in denying his Motion for Newly Discovered Evidence and claims of Extrinsic Fraud by the Solicitor and Grand Jury Foreperson, Where all evidence shown above provides presumptive Prima Facie evidence that validates fraudulent guilt...

Appellant would respectfully request this Honorable Court please find merit in this appeal and grant the appellant the relief requested in the application to vacate the conviction and sentencing of this action as a matter of Law...

Respectfully Submitted,

Johnnie Lee Jones,  
Johnnie Lee Jones, SCDC #340271  
Acting Pro-Se Attorney:  
Allendale Correction Institution  
Post-office Box 1151 F-3-B-23  
Fairfax, South Carolina 29827

Exhibit: # A: Pg: (1-7):

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
COUNTY OF BAMBERG

IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS  
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT  
CASE NO.: 2007-GS-05-168-169  
FILED  
BAMBERG COUNTY  
2016 APR 26 AM 10:24

State of South Carolina  
vs.  
Johnie L. Jones, #340271  
Defendant.

JAMES B. HIERS  
CLERK OF COURT  
BAMBERG, SC

MOTION FOR AFTER-NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE  
and  
MOTION TO EXPAND RECORD

"Evidentiary Hearing Requested"

This matter comes before the Court by way of an Motion to filed a Motion for After-Newly Discovered Evidence and Motion to Expand the Record to be filed pursuant to Rule 29 (B), SCR CRIM.P. and Rule 60 (B)(3), SCRCP. There is no statute of limitation when a party seek to set aside a judgment due to fraud upon the Court. (Citing Auda v. Mobil Oil Cooperation, 862 F.2d 1115,1118 (1st Cir. 1989); Catoo v. State, Supra., there is no time limitation within such motion must be brought forth. See State v. Williams, 168 S.C. 295,93 S.E.2d 106.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

For purpose of the Motion, Defendant discovered that the Solicitor unlawfully impaneling its Grand Jury outside the Statute of S.C.Code Ann.S 14-5- 630 (2); the Solicitor committed a BRADY VIOLATION by withholding exculpatory evidence from the defense and the Solicitor manufactured a indictment for [Attempt Kidnapping].

ALLEGATIONS

In his current Motion alleges that he is being held in custody unlawfully for the following reasons:

GROUND A. "Did the Solicitor committed (sic) a 'procedural error' by unlawfully impaneling its Grand Jury outside the Statute of S.C.Code Ann. § 14-5-630 (2),

SUPPORTING FACTS: The Defendant humbly contends that the Solicitor committed (sic) a 'procedural error' by unlawfully impaneling its Grand Jury outside Statute of S.C.Code Ann. § 14-5-630 (2). Here, the General Assembly did not made a provision in Sec. 14-5-630 (2), that set forth, a [Term of Court] for the Month of [June].

S.C.Code Ann. ~~14-5-630~~ (2), which provides:

- Section (2) Bamberg County.- The Court of General Sessions for Bamberg County shall be held at Bamberg on the third Monday in February for a term of one week and on the second Monday in September for a term of one week.

Nowhere, in S.C.Code Ann. ~~14-5-630~~ (2) the legislature provided a [Term of Court] for Month of [June] within the Court of General Sessions.

In the case, at hand, the indictment read as follows:

- At a Court of General Sessions, convened on June 4, 2007, the Grand Jurors of Bamberg County present upon their oath;

In this case, the South Carolina Supreme Court confirm the standard for the [Term of Court] that set forth in the Statutory Laws of this State and in Ex-Part Lilly, 7 S.C. 372, 1876 WL 5977 and State v. Henderson, 136 S.E. 363. These issues set forth in the Supreme Court Ruling in other such cases like State v.-Henderson, Supra, and still apply today and protected by the United States Constitution and laws of the State and United States.

The matter presented above for review is not a challenge to the Court's General grant of authority to hear and determine cases. That authority is rightfully granted by our constitution, State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005), and will not be at issue.

GROUND B. Legal Framework

SUPPORTING FACTS: The Defendant alleges that the Solicitor failure to request for a special term of the Court of General Sessions, it deprived the Defendant of his [Procedural due process]. As set forth, one additional piece of evidence very clearly settles the matter of State's FALSE condition. The information contained in Chamber Exhibit [A], also establishes that no special term of the Court of General Sessions was not convened on June 4, 2007 under the provisions of either Section 14-5-410, Section 14-5-910, or Section 14-5-920.

As established above, what [Competent Authority] the Solicitor can produce to this Court, that give them authority to alter the [Term of Court] that set forth in Section 14-5-630 (2). When a legislative enactment limits the manner in which something may be done, the enactment also evinces the intent that it shall not be done another way. Thus, since the Court utilized an lawful mode of procedure not allowed under Section 14-9-210, State lacked the requisite jurisdiction to complete return of its true-billed indictment. Therefore, the legislative has set forth the Procedure in South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 77. Cancelling or Ordering Term of Court.

The rule provides:

- ° Sec. (E) No term of court shall be cancelled nor additional term scheduled without the prior approval of the Chief Justice. When the local bar requests that a week of Common Pleas Court be not held or the Solicitor requests that a week of General Sessions Court be not held the Clerk SHALL immediately notify the Court Administrator of this State.

The Statutory terms above are clear, unambiguous, and require the County Solicitor to requests that a week of general sessions court be not held the Clerk SHALL immediately notify the Court Administrator of this State. Here, the solicitor in contempt of court by failure to comply with the requirements of this rule.

i. Due Process

However, her, evidence will establish that the [Foreperson of Grand Jury] signed the [True-Bill] dated May 31, 2007. As set forth, the foreperson of the grand jury committed [Constructive Fraud] upon the Court by signing the indictment before full ~~panel~~ ~~was~~ assembled of the Grand Jury." See Gaither v. United States, 413 F.2d 1061, under Rule 6 (f) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure provides: "An indictment may be found only upon the concurrence of 12 or more jurors. And Rule 6 (c) emphasizes the requirement that 12 jurors shall "find" each indictment by its provision that the foreperson "shall keep a record of the number of jurors concurring in the finding of every indictment must be "found" by at least 12 grand jurors is a further specification of the Fifth Amendment's command that "no person shall be held to answer for a capital or otherwise infamous crime, unless on a presentment or indictment of a Grand Jury."

**GROUND C. Did the Court lack subject matter jurisdiction to tried the Defendant on attempted kidnapping?**

**SUPPORTING FACTS:** The Defendant contends that the Legislature did not ..... enacted a Statute for [attempted kidnapping] and there was no provision place in S.C.Code Ann. § 16-3-910 for attempted kidnapping. See also, Keith v. Stevenson, 210 WL 3786122 (2010), to do a thing unlawfully is to do it willfully against the law. Knowingly means knowledge, consciously, not accidentally, ... seize means to take hold or suddenly or forcefully, confine means to limit, - restrict or enclose within bounds, imprison or shut or keep in. Inveigle..... means to lure, entice or astray... or lead astray by false representations, ... promises or other deceitful means. Decoy means to lure or as if by decoy. A. decoy is... decoy is something to entice a person into a trap. The definition

of decoy is to lure successfully. As provided in Section 16-3-910, kidnapping occurs when one unlawfully seize, confines, inveigles, decoys, kidnaps, abducts or carries away any other person by any means whatsoever without authority of law.

The plain and unambiguous language of § 16-3-910, As set forth, element of.... kidnapping (words of a statute should be accorded their plain and ordinary meaning without resorting to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand statute's operation). There is simply no language in the statute which implies it excludes a provision for (attempted kidnapping). If the Legislature.. had intended to add attempted kidnapping in the Statute, it could have..... included such language in the Statute (if Legislature intended Statute to attempted kidnapping, it could have done so by including such language).

Lastly, the Solicitor simply did deprived Defendant's of his due process or equal protection, by convicting the Defendant of a Statutory Law that was not enacted by Legislature.

**GROUND D. The Solicitor committed a BRANDY VIOLATION by withholding exculpatory evidence.**

**SUPPORTING FACTS:** The Defendant contends that the Solicitor withheld exculpatory evidence, such as misidentification because the highly suggestive out-of-court identification procedure used by police where only one photograph was displayed in the photographic layout and shown to the accuser resulted in an unreliable identification and the Solicitor withheld the one photograph from the defense and the Solicitor withheld the medical report from the ..... defense to substantiate the victim was every injury and the Solicitor failed to met all the prongs set forth in S.C.Code Ann. § 16-3-910. Here, the Solicitor was not faithful to the Law.

CONCLUSION

FILED  
BAMBERG COUNTY  
2016 APR 26 AM 10:25  
JAMES B. HIERSS  
CLERK OF COURT  
BAMBERG, SC

For all of the foregoing reasons, the Defendant, Johnnie L. Jones, respectfully requests this Court to grant the Motion and reverse the trial court decision and remand this case for an Evidentiary... Hearing to vacate Jones's conviction and sentence as matter of law.

This day of April, 2016.