ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BAMBERG COUNTY
Doyet A. Early, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-002619

RECEIVED

MAR 26 2019

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

JOHNNIE L. JONES

.....APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

J. STROM THURMOND, JR.
Solicitor, Second Judicial Circuit

Post Office Drawer 3368
Aiken, South Carolina 29802
(803) 642-1557

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BAMBERG COUNTY

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The circuit court properly denied Appellant's Rule 29(b) motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence because: (1) he failed to show the existence of all five factors required to obtain a new trial on this basis; (2) the motion was untimely because the alleged evidence does not implicate the subject matter jurisdiction of the trial court, and (3) the motion was without merit where Appellant failed to carry his burden of proving the grand jury was not properly impaneled pursuant to the relevant statutes.

In his brief, Appellant argues the lower court erred in denying his petition/motion for newly discovered evidence on claims of "extrinsic fraud" because the State failed to produce supportive evidence at the July 25, 2017, hearing to rebut his claim of "fraudulent actions by the Solicitor and Grand Jury foreperson [sic] of signing and processing of such documents (R. p. 32-33) of this action out-side the convening of courts Grand Jury." In his underlying Rule 29 motion before the lower court, Appellant argued the solicitor committed a "procedural error" by "unlawfully" impaneling the grand jury that indicted him outside the term of court identified by Section 14-5-630 of the South Carolina Code. He claimed the State "lacked the requisite jurisdiction to complete return of its true-billed indictment" where it did not obtain the prior approval of the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court for an additional term pursuant to Rule 77 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. Appellant argued this violated his right to due process and that the foreperson of the grand jury committed "constructive fraud" upon the court by signing the indictment under these circumstances. He went on to claim that as a result of these actions, the trial court was without subject matter jurisdiction to proceed to trial. Appellant asked the circuit court to vacate his convictions and sentences based on the trial court's alleged lack of jurisdiction. The State submits Appellant's arguments are both untimely and without

merit under the relevant rules, and therefore his Rule 29 motion for a new trial was properly denied and dismissed by the circuit court.

Rule 29(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure states, in pertinent part:

A motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence *must be made within one (1) year after the date of actual discovery of the evidence by the defendant or after the date when the evidence could have been ascertained by the exercise of reasonable diligence*. A motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence may not be made while the case is on appeal unless the appellate court, upon motion, has suspended the appeal and granted leave to make the motion. Leave of the appellate court is not required if no appeal has been taken or if the appeal has been finally decided in the appellate court.

Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP (emphasis added).¹ In South Carolina, to obtain a new trial based on after discovered evidence, the party must show that the evidence: (1) would probably change the result if a new trial is had; (2) has been discovered since trial; (3) could not have been discovered before trial by the exercise of due diligence; (4) is material to the issue of guilt or innocence; and (5) is not merely cumulative or impeaching. *Jamison v. State*, 410 S.C. 456, 467, 765 S.E.2d 123, 128 (2017)); *State v. Needs*, 333 S.C. 134, 157-58, 508 S.E.2d 857, 869 (1998). Appellant failed to make the requisite showing.

Neither in his argument to the lower court or in his brief on appeal does Appellant posit or explain how the evidence at issue could not have been discovered before trial through the exercise of due diligence. He further fails to explain how it could not have been discovered before his 2012 Application for PCR, or the amendment to the Application. This is likely because all of the information Appellant now relies upon was available and discoverable well before his 2010 trial. The theory of after-discovered evidence does not extend to evidence available or attainable from public record before the time of trial. *State v. Allen*, 276 S.C. 412,

¹ The one year statute of limitations for making motions based on after-discovered evidence was added to Rule 29 on April 28, 2011, more than one year before Appellant filed his Application for PCR.

414, 279 S.E.2d 365, 366 (1981). In effect, Appellant's Rule 29 motion is merely another attempt at an application for PCR, where his first application was denied and dismissed with prejudice in a prior proceeding. As recognized by the circuit court as an additional basis for denial of relief, Appellant could have attempted to raise his current allegations in his prior PCR. Thus, his motion was untimely under Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP, and was properly dismissed.

Appellant also fails to explain or demonstrate how the alleged newly discovered evidence is material to his guilt or innocence. Indeed, he makes a purely technical challenge to the impanelment of the grand jury and his subsequent indictment by that grand jury. Appellant had a jury trial where he was found guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. Thus, the actions of the grand jury which indicted Appellant are not material to guilt or innocence.

Similarly, the lower court did not infringe upon or abridge Appellant's right to due process by denying his motion. Initially, the State notes this argument is not preserved for review because it was not made to Judge Early at the hearing. *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003). Furthermore, Appellant's due process argument should be deemed abandoned on appeal because it is conclusory. *See State v. Howard*, 384 S.C. 212, 217-218, 682 S.E.2d 42, 45 (2009) (finding "[a]n issue is deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal if the argument is raised in a brief but not supported by authority"); *State v. Hill*, 394 S.C. 280, 297, 715 S.E.2d 368, 377-78 (Ct. App. 2011) (finding an issue is deemed abandoned on appeal where appellate counsel made a "two sentence conclusory argument with citation to only *Brady* and no analysis whatsoever as to why or how *Brady* applies"). In any event, the argument is without merit.

The fundamental requirements of procedural due process include fair notice and proper standards for adjudication, such as an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way and judicial

review. *State v. Green*, 397 S.C. 268, 279, 724 S.E.2d 664, 669 (2012); *Stono River Envtl. Prot. Ass'n v. S.C. Dep't of Health and Envtl. Control*, 305 S.C. 90, 94, 406 S.E.2d 340, 342 (1991); *Harbit v. City of Charleston*, 382 S.C. 383, 393, 675 S.E.2d 776, 781 (Ct. App. 2009). Due process is not a technical concept with fixed parameters unrelated to time, place, and circumstances; rather, it is a flexible concept that calls for such procedural protections as the situation demands. *State v. Legg*, 416 S.C. 9, 13, 785 S.E.2d 369, 371 (2016). Thus, procedural due process contemplates a fair hearing before a legally constituted impartial tribunal. *Id.* Here, Appellant was given: (1) fair notice of the charges against him, (2) a jury trial with all the appurtenant constitutional rights including the right to the effective assistance of counsel, (3) a direct appeal from the jury trial, (4) a PCR hearing to collaterally challenge that right where he was represented by counsel, (5) a direct PCR appeal, and (6) a federal habeas action. The fundamental requirements of due process were met and the lower court properly dismissed Appellant's motion.

Appellant's related claim that the trial court was without subject matter jurisdiction to proceed to trial is likewise untimely and without merit. Subject matter jurisdiction is the power to hear and determine cases of the general class to which the proceedings in question belong. *Dove v. Gold Kist, Inc.*, 314 S.C. 235, 237-38, 442 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1994). In *State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C.93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005), our supreme court abandoned the view that, in criminal matters, the circuit court acquires subject matter jurisdiction to hear a particular case by way of a valid indictment by either a county or state grand jury. *Evans v. State*, 363 S.C. 495, 507, 611 S.E.2d 510, 516 (2005). Instead, the subject matter jurisdiction of the circuit court and the sufficiency of an indictment are two distinct concepts. *Id.* at 507, 611 S.E.2d at 517. A defendant has a constitutional right to demand that a grand jury which is properly established and

constituted under the law consider the criminal allegations against him. *Id.* at 509, 611 S.E.2d at 518. However, such a challenge does not implicate the subject matter jurisdiction of the circuit court. *Id.*

Here, Appellant does not dispute the existence of indictment numbers 2007-GS-05-168 and 2007-GS-05-169, which put him on notice of what charges he was called upon to answer, apprised him of the elements of the offenses, and allowed him to decide whether to plead guilty or stand trial, and which enabled the circuit court to know what judgment to pronounce when Appellant was convicted. Those indictments demonstrate Appellant's charges were presented to, and true billed by, the Bamberg County grand jury on May 31, 2007. Appellant's challenge before the lower court and in this appeal goes merely to the statutory procedures employed to empanel the grand jury that indicted him. Because this challenge does not implicate subject matter jurisdiction, it is not timely and was properly dismissed pursuant to Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP.

In any event, Appellant's challenge fails on the merits because he failed to carry his burden of proof. The judicial power is vested under Article V of the South Carolina Constitution, in the unified judicial system. It provides: The judicial power shall be vested in a unified judicial system, which shall include a Supreme Court, a Circuit Court, and such other courts of uniform jurisdiction as may be provided for by general law." S.C. Const. art. V, § 1. With regard to setting terms of court, this power remains with the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court, who is the administrative head of the unified judicial system. S.C. Const. art. V, § 4. The provision states in pertinent part:

[E]ach county shall be entitled to four weeks of court each year and such terms therefor shall be provided by the General Assembly. Provided, further, that the Chief Justice shall set a term of at least one week in any court of original jurisdiction in any

county within sixty days after receipt by him of a resolution of the county bar requesting it. The Supreme Court shall make rules governing the administration of all the courts of the State.

Id.

In his brief, Appellant relied on S.C. Code Ann. § 14-5-630 which states the following:

The court of general sessions for Bamberg County shall be held at Bamberg on the third Monday in February for a term of one week and on the second Monday in September for one week.

S.C. Code Ann. § 14-5-630(2) (2017). Appellant appears to contend that, because he was indicted in the fifth week of May rather than one of the weeks identified in the statute, his indictments and subsequent conviction are null and void. However, the above statute merely provides for a minimum amount of terms of court that are to be scheduled in each county, which is the responsibility of the General Assembly. The statute does not limit the ability of the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court to schedule additional terms of court pursuant to its constitutional power delineated in Article V, Section 4.

As noted above, the Chief Justice has the power to set the terms of any court and shall have the power to assign any judge to sit in any court within the unified judicial system. S.C. Const. art. V, § 4. Although section 14-5-630 does not provide for Bamberg County general sessions terms of court at the specific time Appellant was indicted, South Carolina Court Administration, pursuant to authority given by the Chief Justice, appears to have specifically scheduled general sessions terms of court during that week, and it acted within its constitutional authority in doing so. Even if Appellant's allegations were somehow timely, Appellant bears the burden of proving the grand jury was not properly impaneled. Here, he simply failed to carry his burden of proof. Contrary to Appellant's claims, the State had no burden to "produce supportive evidence" to refute his allegations, and to the extent it does, the indictments themselves provide that proof. Thus, Appellant's Rule 29 motion was properly denied by the lower court.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the judgment of the lower court denying and dismissing Appellant's Rule 29(b) motion for a new trial be affirmed.